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DESCRIPTION

The Church Hill Industrial District, as described in the 1982 National Register Nomination Form, contains five 
industrial complexes in an irregularly-shaped district of about seven acres located west of downtown Pawtucket. 
The district includes fourteen predominantly brick manufacturing buildings of from one to five stories in height. 
The northern boundary of this existing district is Bayley Street.

This boundary increase adds twenty buildings and one structure from the Union Wadding Company and the 
New England Machine and Electric Company properties, located immediately north of the existing district in a 
roughly six-acre area bounded by the Amtrak line on the north, Pine Street on the west, Dexter and Commerce 
Streets on the east, and Bayley Street on the south. This intensively-developed industrial area shares the scale, 
fabric and density of the neighboring 19th- and early 20th-century Church Hill Industrial District. The dominant 
addition to this district is the roughly 5-acre Union Wadding complex. Typical of the development of textile 
plants of this period, Union Wadding evolved as the dense network of interconnected buildings visible today 
through several campaigns of expansion, infill between buildings and addition of upper stories.

The Union Wadding complex comprises nineteen brick buildings of from one to four stories in height and a 
round-section chimney sited next to the surviving late ^^-century boiler house. The cotton wadding and waste 
business was prone to fire; several fires between the earliest development of the site in 1847 and 1870 destroyed 
most of the original complement of factory buildings. A major fire in October 2010 claimed ten buildings at the 
west end of the complex. The surviving Union Wadding buildings represent building campaigns carried out 
between 1870 and ca. 1930. The New England Machine Company building occupies the western end of the 
parcel between the existing district and the Union Wadding complex, an area defined by Bayley Street, Pine 
Street, Commerce Street and Goff Avenue. This one-story brick building dates to 1925; its brick-faced, concrete 
block storage extension (non-contributing), now the main entrance to Armando's Meat Market, dates to pre- 
1949.

Inventory
Resources below are enumerated in order of approximate date of construction. Foundations are typically 
granite ashlar. The numbers in parentheses are those assigned by the developer ca. 2010 to the buildings they 
plan to rehabilitate.
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Building 16 (6)
Union Wadding Co. Oven House and Dye Room
125 Goff Avenue (Between 1853 and 1870, between 1882 and 1884, et seq., contributing)

This 2-story, flat-roofed, brick building emerged as a series of accretions to a narrow building extending from 
the south wall of Building 15 (q.v.). These extensions toward present-day Goff Avenue (made until sometime 
after 1923) included a carpenter shop, pipe shop and machine shop. Parts of the southernmost chambers 
included two offices on Goff Avenue; some fabric of these chambers may predate the 1870 fire, particularly the 
partial brownstone ashlar foundation. Original windows have been replaced as part of the current rehabilitation 
project. Framing is predominantly timber. Sills are quarry-faced granite. The cornice is corbeled.

Building 19 (9)
Union Wadding Boiler/Engine/Pump House 
125 Goff Avenue (ca. 1870 et seq., contributing)

Attached to Building 18 and set back from Goff Avenue, a deep, roughly 70' x 40', single-story, flat-roofed 
brick building that housed the boilers, steam engine, water pump, and a belt chamber for power transmission. 
Roof beams are timber. The southeast corner wall was rounded, likely to facilitate movement in the adjoining 
alley. Surviving windows are 8/12, double hung frame; others are brick-filled. A modern garage door has been 
cut into the south elevation. The 1876 Barlow's drawing shows four boilers and an adjoining square-section 
chimney. This was later replaced with one of round section (see below). The steam engine powering the plant at 
that time was 250 HP.

Union Wadding Co. Chimney
125 Goff Avenue (post 1870, likely rebuilt in 20th century)

A circular-plan, red brick chimney roughly 80' in height. This chimney served the furnaces and boilers of 
Building 19.

Building 20 (8)
Union Wadding Card Room
125 Goff Avenue (ca. 1870, contributing)

Extending from the rear of Building 21, originally a 2-story, flat-roofed, brick building that housed carding 
machinery. An upper story was added between 1923 and 1949. The building measures roughly 190' x 40'. 
Framing is iron columns with timber beams on the first floor and iron beams on the upper floors. Because of
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infill along side elevations many of the original segmental-arched window openings have been filled and no 
original sash remain. On the first floor, the window bays on the west elevation have been enlarged to form 
freight door openings. The building sustained damage in the October 2010 fire, including partial failure of the 
bearing walls on the southwest corner. The owner is currently developing plans for the repair of the building.

Buildings 17 and 18 (7)
Union Wadding Lapper/Opener/Picker House
125 Goff Avenue (original section ca. 1870, rear extension by 1882, contributing)

Built directly behind and attached to Building 19 as a roughly 40' x 160', two-story stone structure, this 
building was extended 150' to Weeden Street by 1882. Originally serving as a Picker House (with openers on 
the second floor), by the 1880s it appears to have served primarily for carding. Framing is iron columns and 
timber beams. The side alley between this and Buildings 12-14 to its east appears to have been enclosed during 
the 20th century. Although roofing and framing of this infill has been removed, the network of the sprinkler 
system remains.

Note: Ca. 1880, Union Wadding purchased a par eel of land east of the main complex extending to Dexter Street 
and began adding buildings by 1882. Ca. 1913 the NYNH&Hrail line was relocated north to its present 
location and the old railbed became present-day Goff Avenue . Weeden Avenue, a former public thoroughfare, 
became an industrial alleyway -with a spur line to the Union Wadding complex.

Buildings 12,13, and 14 (3 and 4)
(Buildings 12 and 13 comprise Building 3 in the developer's scheme; Building 14 comprises Building 4).
Union Wadding Storage/Lapper House
125 Goff Avenue (between 1876 and 1882, contributing)

On the site of an earlier group of narrow frame buildings arrayed north of Building 15, these three connected 3- 
story, brick, gable-roofed buildings now read as a long, roughly 220' x 60' single building attached to Building 
15. This building is attached to Buildings 11 and 15. The upper stories served as storage areas; the ground floor 
housed lappers. Framing is timber columns and beams. Windows date to the recent rehabilitation of the 
building. Sills are quarry-faced granite. Two sets of stacked freight doors on the east elevation have been 
replaced with multi-light doors as part of the current rehabilitation project.

Building 15 (5)
Union Wadding Co. Dye House/Oven Room and Storage Building 
125 Goff Avenue (between 1876 and 1882, contributing)
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A 3-story brick, nearly flat-roofed building attached to two adjoining 2-story buildings (Buildings 16 and 14). 
Original window sash have been replaced as part of the current rehabilitation project. This building measures 
roughly 55' x 75'. Framing is timber columns and beams.

Building 8
Union Wadding Cotton Waste House (Sorting Room/Storage/Bailing Building) 
60 Dexter Street (between 1882 and 1884, contributing)

The first building to appear in the newly-acquired parcel east of the main Union Wadding plant was a roughly 
80' x 80', two-story, brick sorting room with a gable roof. Extending westerly from this building was a single- 
story, wood frame storage building. Attached to the western end of this extension was an open shed that may 
have also served as a stable. Later, this building was improved significantly with the addition of Building 9 on 
the eastern section and the addition of a second story on the western section. In the 20th-century the open frame 
shed at the west end was enclosed and clad in pressed tin sheeting. Ground floor windows have 8-light early 
20th-century industrial metal sash. Upper story windows have late 20th-century metal replacement sash. Sills are 
quarry-faced granite. Foundation is granite.

Building 10 (1)
Union Wadding Co. Cleaning House
125 Goff Avenue (between 1890 and 1895, contributing)

Set off a short distance from the east elevation of Building 13, this is a 4-story, flat-roofed, brick, pier and 
spandrel building with a single-story, frame rear extension. Foundation is granite. A 2-level walkway (recently 
demolished) provided communication with Building 13. Window openings are segmental arch; original window 
sash have been replaced. Sills are quarry-faced granite. The cornice is corbeled.

Building 9
Union Wadding Co. Cotton Warehouse
60 Dexter Street (between 1895 and 1902, contributing)

This 2-story, brick warehouse was built onto the north elevation of Building 8 with a shallow pitched gable roof 
with a corbelled cornice unifying the two buildings. Building 9 has a granite foundation and concrete floor. 
Segmental arch windows on the upper floor have mid-20th-century replacement metal sash. Ground floor 
windows have 8-light industrial metal sash with a 4-light hopper. The segmental arches of the ground floor 
windows have been bricked in to accommodate these rectangular window frames. On the north elevation there
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is a concrete loading dock with a steel-framed canopy along the old Weeden Avenue rail spur, now adapted for 
truck access. A mid-20t century concrete block WE 
continues west across the two adjoining buildings.
truck access. A mid-20t century concrete block wall screens the east end of the loading dock and the dock

Building 11 (2)
Union Wadding Co. Cotton Shed
60 Dexter Street (between 1895 and 1902, and ca. 1923, contributing)

This 3-story, roughly 90' x 50', brick building originally may have been a single-story infill structure occupying 
the space between Building 12 to the west and Building 9 to the east. The present-day 3-story brick building 
appears to be an adaptation of this building or a complete replacement, built between 1911 and 1923 with a 
shallow gable roof and a corbelled cornice. Window sash have been replaced.. A continuous loading dock runs 
across the rear of the building and Buildings 9 and 12.

Building 7
Union Wadding Second Office Building 
60 Dexter Street (1902, contributing)

Replacing an earlier office within Building 16, this is an ornate 2-story, brick, Classical Revival building with a 
single-story rear wing, both with flat roofs and a raised basement. The strongest visual feature of this building is 
a tripartite set of round arches with granite voussoirs at the north end of the fa9ade. The larger central arch 
provides a driveway into the mill yard to the west; the flanking arches shelter the curved stairway to the main 
entrance on the south side and a guardroom on the north side. The building is trimmed with granite flat arch 
lintels with keystones over the windows, and a granite belt course, watertable and foundation. The cornice has 
copper crown molding and corbeled brickwork below. Original window sash have been replaced with modern 
metal sash. By the 1940s, Union Wadding sold this office building to United Public Markets (along with 
Buildings 6-11) and that company continued to use it as an office.

Building 6
Union Wadding Garage
60 Dexter Street (between 1911 and 1917, contributing)

Associated with the neighboring office (Building 7), this small, shed-roofed, three-bay, brick garage was built 
for the automobiles of Union Wadding executives. Original frame doors have been removed and replaced with 
metal types. The cornice is wooden; brickwork below is corbeled in a manner similar to that of neighboring 
Building 7.
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Buildings 31, 32,33
Union Wadding Co. Cotton Storehouse
125 Dexter Street at rail line (between 1911 and 1917, contributing)

Sited along the rail line at the northeast corner of the Union Wadding property, a deep single story, roughly 90' 
x 150' brick and frame building providing three separate interior chambers for cotton storage. This was likely 
built after the realignment of the NYNH&H tracks ca. 1913. The roof is near-flat with raised parapet walls 
demarcating the three interior chambers. This building has been sheathed in modern metal paneling.

Building 34
Union Wadding Co. Second Bleachery
125 Goff Avenue (between 1923 and 1939, contributing)

A brick, single-story, bleachery, roughly 100' x 112', with a flat roof lit by two monitors. Windows are bricked- 
in. The building has a decorative brick parapet with concrete coping. Framing is timber columns and beams.

The following building has no historical relation to Union Wadding Company. It lies to the south of this 
complex, occupying the west end of the city block bounded by Goff Avenue, Pine St., Bayley St. and Commerce 
St.

New England Machine and Electric Co. Building
265 Pine St. (historically 77 Bayley St.), (1925, contributing; warehouse wing, between 1939 and 1951, non- 
contributing)

A single-story, flat-roofed brick building with a single-story wing on the west. The front (south) elevation 
features large segmental-arched windows with granite sills, now filled with concrete block, and a segmental- 
arched doorway. The wall rises to form a low parapet finished with corbelling. The foundation is concrete. The 
rectangular window openings have been filled with concrete block; the sills are concrete. A short, square- 
section brick chimney is on the Goff Avenue elevation. The west wing is a single-story, flat-roofed concrete 
block addition faced with red brick. This addition served originally as a warehouse, but has been significantly 
remodeled for retail use with a modern store entrance on the southwest corner.
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SIGNIFICANCE

This boundary increase encompasses an extensive manufacturing complex containing nineteen buildings and 
one structure, as well as a small industrial shop that are contemporary with and possessing the same historical 
significance as the abutting Church Hill Industrial District. The Union Wadding Company complex and the 
New England Machine and Electric Company properties meet National Register Criterion A as textile 
manufacturing and machining operations that exemplify the same themes of Pawtucket industrial development 
as the Church Hill Industrial District. They also possess the same scale, fabric and architectural qualities that 
characterize the neighboring district and so meet National Register Criterion C as examples of industrial 
construction from ca. 1860 to ca. 1930. The addition of these properties to the district is founded on a fuller 
assessment of the importance of these properties in the historic industrial development of Church Hill.

HISTORY

The Union Wadding Company, which achieved national renown for its innovations in the manufacture of high- 
quality cotton wadding and batting, grew out of one of the first two manufacturing operations to locate in 
Pawtucket's Church Hill neighborhood in the early 1840s. In 1847 Goff & Lawton build a steam wadding mill 
on the north side of the railroad; on the south side of tracks opposite their plant, James Brown built a large 
textile machine shop.

This initial industrial development on Church Hill continued through the 1920s, including successive 
rebuildings and expansions of the wadding plant. Following the relocation of the railroad from present-day Goff 
Avenue to the north side of the wadding plant, the land between Union Wadding and the Brown machine shop 
became available for redevelopment.

The city block bounded by Bayley Street and Goff Street was developed by the early 20th-century into a dense 
collection of modest-scale industrial lofts, shops and provisions warehouses. All but one of these industrial 
buildings was demolished in the last half of the 20th century. The remaining building at the west end of the 
block housed the New England Machine and Electric Company from 1925 to ca. 1990. The company, which 
provided electrical contracting, machining, and motor rebuilding since its incorporation in 1908, represented the 
final phase of the industrial development of Church Hill.

Union Wadding Company

Richard Goff1 established the Union Cotton Manufacturing Co. in Rehoboth, Ma, in 1808. His son Darius 
(1809-1891) learned the cotton trade in his father's mill, acquiring a specialization in textile coloring as a young

1 Richard Goff operated a fulling mill in Rehoboth as early as 1790.
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man. In 1835 Darius and his brother Nelson took ownership of the mill, adapting it for the manufacture of 
cotton batting, a non-woven fabric used for stuffing and lining. During this period they developed a 
manufacturing process that represented a significant departure from the single-sheet production then in common 
use. The Goff brothers developed an "apron process" that produced batting on a continuous roll This 
innovation was soon combined with a new sizing process for the manufacture of glazed, or pelisse, wadding.

By 1836 Darius Goff had observed that substantial quantities of cotton waste were being generated by the larger 
cotton mills along the Blackstone River, particularly the Lonsdale Company. This waste product of weaving 
and spinning was of little use to those factories and Goff saw the opportunity to process it for the manufacture 
of batting and wadding. In that same year Goff contracted with the Lonsdale Company to acquire their cotton 
waste and built a new factory in Rehoboth in 1842 to capitalize on the innovations refined since 1835. A month 
later the new mill was destroyed by fire. Over the next thirty years Darius Goff would come to well know the 
danger of fire in the cotton waste business. 2

Darius Goff secured his first US patent for improvements in the mode of glazing cotton batting in 1842. 3 In the 
same year he formed a partnership with George Lawton of Waltham, MA, in a cotton and paper waste business. 
This new company, capitalized at $30,000, purchased land in Pawtucket along the rail line rail line and 
maintained ownership of property at Grey's Wharf in Boston. The company, the Rhode Island component of 
which was called the Pawtucket Steam Wadding Mill, built a 200' x 40', two-story mill with adjoining boiler 
and engine room in the general vicinity of present-day Buildings 21 and 19.4 The plant was staffed by 13 
operatives. Darius Goff and his family moved from Rehoboth to Pawtucket in 1847. He had married Harriet 
Lee5 in 1839; they gave birth to son Darius Lee in 1840 and son Lyman a year later.

The Pawtucket mill experienced its first fire in 1851. Goff and Lawton immediately rebuilt on a larger scale. In 
the same year the partnership was dissolved. Lawton took possession of the Boston operation; Goff became full 
owner of the Pawtucket Steam Wadding Mill. In 1859 Goff associated himself with John D. Cranston, Henry A. 
Stearns and Stephen Brownell for the buying and selling of cotton waste and paper stock and the manufacture of 
cotton wadding. By 1860 the company was producing daily 1200 Ibs of wadding. 6 In the 1860s Lyman and

2 Goff partnered for a period of time with E.A. Brown of Rehoboth, who had purchased Nelson Goff s interest in the company. The 
new company, Goff and Brown, manufactured carpet warps and twine until its dissolution in 1868. Their factory was likely in 
Rehoboth in the vicinity of the one destroyed by the 1842 fire.
3 US Patent No. 4353, Improvements in the mode of glazing cotton wadding, Jan. 15, 1846
4 Some of the structural fabric of this original operation may still exist in Building 19. The original operation was described as "a 
small stone mill" in Hoag and Wade's A History of the State of Rhode Island (1878).
5 Darius Goff s first wife, Sarah Lee, died ca. 1838. Goff s second wife, Harriet, was Sarah's sister. They were married in 1839.
6 Around this time Goff and his son Darius Lee set up a new company with the W.F. and F.C. Sayles interests, the American Worsted 
Co., for the manufacture of worsted braids—the first of its kind in the US. This company was dissolved in 1864. Goff formed D. Goff
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Darius Lee Goff became more involved in the management of the company. D.L. Goff secured his first patent 
for improvements in machinery for picking and separating cotton waste in 1868. Two years later the Union 
Wadding Company, likely named for the early Rehoboth mill, was incorporated and capitalized at $200,000. At 
that time the company utilized five steam engines with an aggregate power of 140 HP and produced annually 
$250,000 worth of cotton wadding and sold $150,000 worth of cotton waste.

On September 10, 1870, Union Wadding suffered one of the most destructive fires ever seen in Pawtucket. J.P. 
Fisk, a painter commuting on the evening train, witnessed the event and rendered a dramatic painting a few 
years later. 7 A contemporary account states that the fire began in the dye room at the south end of the original 
building and quickly spread the length of the building. Soon most of the plant was engulfed. This was the third 
fire at the Pawtucket plant since 1851. The plant was completely rebuilt in 1872, including a new power plant 
and 300 HP Corliss engine. Most of the surviving plant dates to this 1872 rebuilding and subsequent expansion 
through the early 20th century. Produced six years after the 1870 fire, the 1876 Barlow's Insurance Survey 
drawing of the plant shows a substantial plant of some eighteen 1-3 story brick and frame buildings, the core of 
which is present-day Buildings 18, 19 and 20 and Buildings 21, 22 and 23 which were destroyed in the October 
2010 fire.

By the mid-1880s Union Wadding had expanded its plant westward into the the pre-1870 fire location on Pine 
Street and easterly with the purchase of a parcel extending to Dexter Street. The first building on this newly- 
acquired land was Building 8, a brick and frame structure used for sorting and storage. In 1887 the company 
extended its national market with the purchase of the Riverside Mills of Atlanta, GA, a cotton and cotton waste 
business. Darius Goff, the founder of the company died in 1891 at the age of 82 years. Lyman Goff succeeded 
him as president. By the time of Goff s death the company was producing 75 miles of 36"-wide wadding per 
day along with its business in paper stock and cotton waste. According to some sources, Union Wadding was 
the largest operation of its kind in the world.8

Eastward expansion continued with the construction of the tallest building of the complex, a 4-story Cleaning 
House (Building 10) between 1890 and 1895. At the southwest corner of the property, Union Wadding built a 
Classical Revival office building (Building 7) attached to the south side of Building 8 in 1901. A significant 
change to the general setting of the factory complex was the re-routing of the tracks of the NYNH&H Railroad 
from the south side of the complex along what is now Goff Avenue to the north of the complex. The former

and Sons, setting up shop in the old stone mill on the east bank of the Blackstone River opposite Slater Mill. They soon built a new 
brick factory at the same location. The corporate history of this branch of the Goff interests is not the subject of this nomination.
7 This painting hung at Union Wadding's office until 2004 and was later sold at auction.
8 Kulik and Bonham cite J^-century sources for this claim in Rhode Island: An Inventory of Historic Engineering and Industrial 
Sites, p. 148.
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Weeden Street became a spur line and interior road. Ca. 1913 Union Wadding purchased property on the north 
side of the rail spur and built a 3-chambered, brick cotton storage shed (Buildings 31-33).

The last phase of expansion occurred with the construction of a new bleachery (Building 34) next to the cotton 
storage shed on the north side of the rail spur, in the years between 1923 and 1939. The old bleachery at the 
corner of Goff Avenue and Pine Street was adapted for other uses (destroyed in 2010 fire).

Ca. 1940 Union Wadding subdivided their property and sold the eastern parcel on Dexter Street to United 
Public Markets; this sale included Buildings 6-11. At that time, the company moved its offices into the old 
bleachery. Despite the general decline in the Rhode Island textile industry in the mid-20th century, Union 
Wadding continued to operate and diversified into Christmas tinsel, other holiday ornamentations and industrial 
fans and blowers. Declining business finally forced Union Wadding into receivership in 2004 and the company 
closed operations after one hundred and sixty-four years of operation. In 2005 First National Development of 
Bridgeport, Connecticut acquired the Union Wadding property for redevelopment. In October 2010 a major fire 
destroyed ten buildings on the western side of the plant before they could be rehabilitated; however, 
rehabilitation of the buildings in eastern portion of the complex is now underway.

New England Machine and Electric Company

New England Machine and Electric was a machining firm and electrical contracting business incorporated in 
1908, conducting business at 31 Bayley Street, (now demolished) until 1924. At that time the company built a 
single-story, roughly 80'-square, brick building (then listed as 77 Bayley Street). After World War II, the 
company built a brick-faced cement block warehouse wing on the west end of the original building. New 
England Machine and Electric remained in this location until ca. 1990. The current occupant of the property is 
Armando's Meat Market.

9 In the late 1880s Darius Goff donated land to the NYP&B Railroad (later NYNH&H) for general improvement of the railroad and 
erection of new passenger and freight stations. These improvements are likely represented in the 1913-15 track realignment and 
erection of the passenger depot at the Pawtucket-Central Falls line.
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GEOGRAPHICAL DATA

Boundary description:

The Church Hill Industrial District Boundary Increase includes the following parcels:

Plat 44B, Lots 583, 595, 596 (Union Wadding Co.) 

Plat 53B, Lot 634 (NE Machine and Electric Co.)

Boundary justification:

The boundaries of the addition to the Church Hill Industrial District have been drawn to incorporate the 
adjacent properties that share in the historical and architectural contexts of the existing district, while excluding 
properties that do not, as described in Sections 7 and 8 of this nomination.

See map on following page.
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Church Hill Industrial District Boundary Increase
Vicinity of Goff Avenue, Pine Street, Bayley Street and Dexter Street
Pawtucket, Providence County, Rhode Island

Photographer: Edward Connors 
December 2010

Digital files: Rhode Island Historical Preservation and heritage Commission 
150 Benefit Street, Providence, RI

1. Union Wadding Buildings 20, 19 and 16, viewNE

2. Union Wadding Buildings 16 and 15, view NW

3. Union Wadding Buildings 15, 14, 10, 11 and 8, view N

4. Bayley Street, view E

5. Union Wadding Building 20, view N

6. Union Wadding Buildings 34, 20, 17, 12 and 11, view E

7. Union Wadding Building 19, view S

8. Union Wadding Building 7, view NW

9. Union Wadding Buildings 8 and 9, viewNW

10. Union Wadding Buildings 8 and 9, view SW

11. Union Wadding Buildings 9 and 11, view SW

12. Union Wadding Building 17 interior framing (first floor)
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